FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
6/13/2024 4:36 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/14/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1031751

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 58194-9-II

JASON STEVENS,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH ME DICAL ASSISTANT PROGRAM;

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian Christopher Zuanich WSBA #43877 Attorney for Appellant

ZUANICH LAW PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 206.829.8415 brian@zuanichlaw.com

##

#### I. Introduction

A petitioner in an administrative action appeals an agency order suspending his credential to practice as a medical assistant. At the time the State Department of Health filed charges against him, the petitioner did not have a valid medical assistant certificate. The Department's finding that the petitioner had an expired certificate is not supported by the agency record. Under the Uniform Disciplinary Act, the Department cannot take disciplinary action against invalid certificates. Because the Department's final order imposing discipline was contrary to law, this Court should reverse.

## II. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Jason Stevens seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

## III. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals'
unpublished decision issued on May 14, 2024, <u>Stevens</u>
v. State Health Medical Assistant Program, No. 581949-II, which is attached as Appendix A.

#### IV. Issue Presented for Review

1. The Court of Appeals erred in finding that the Department of Health it had authority to take disciplinary action against Jason Steven's medical assistant credentials under the Uniform Disciplinary Act.

#### V. Statement of the Case

Stevens is a registered nurse. (RP 83). Before becoming a nurse, Stevens worked as a health care assistant (HCA). (RP 83). He received his HCA certificate in 2011. (RP 83).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Brief uses "RP" to refer to the administrative record and "CP" to the clerk's papers.

In 2012, the legislature enacted RCW 18.360.080, which stated that the Department of Health (D•H) could not issue any new HCA certificates after July 1, 2013. Instead, D•H was now required to issue medical assistant certificates to any HCA in good standing as of June 30, 2013. As a result, D•H issued Stevens a medical assistant-phlebotomist (MAP) certificate on July 1, 2013. (RP 83).

Stevens let his HCA certificate expire in October 2013. (RP 83). At this time, he was working as a nurse at the federal detention center in SeaTac. (RP 83). In 2014, authorities determined that Stevens had diverted oxycodone pills from patients for his personal use while working at the detention center. (RP 3).

•n May 19, 2014, Stevens's wife renewed his MAP certificate without his knowledge. (RP 180, 182, 233). She paid the certification fee online using a

credit card. (RP 180, 182, 233) Two years later,

Stevens's wife again renewed his credential without his knowledge, on May 28, 2016. (RP 93). As in 2014, she paid via credit card. (RP 93, 233).

In February 2017, the Medical Assistant Program ("Program") charged Stevens with unprofessional conduct under the Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA) based on his conduct at the detention center. (RP 3-4). Stevens moved to dismiss the charges. (RP 75-81). He argued that the Program did not have the authority to take disciplinary action against the MAP certificate issued in his name because the certificate was not valid. (RP 75-81). The health law judge denied Stevens's motion. (RP 285).

While the Program's case was pending, the
Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission

("Commission") also charged Stevens with

unprofessional conduct, based on his conduct at the detention center. (RP 1803). The Program stayed its proceedings pending the outcome of the Commission's proceedings. (RP 839). Following an evidentiary hearing. the Commission suspended Stevens's nursing license in 2019. (RP 1560). On the basis of the Commission's finding, a health law judge in the Program's case found that Sevens had engaged in unprofessional conduct under the UDA and indefinitely suspended his MAP certificate. (RP 1727-33).

In his petition for administrative review, Stevens argued that he did not have—nor did he ever have—a valid MAP certificate. (RP 1742-43). The review officer rejected his argument and held that that his MAP certificate "automatically superseded" his older HCA license as a result of the legislation passed in 2012. (RP 1800). Stevens timely filed a petition for

judicial review in Thurston County Superior Court.

(CP 1-4). By agreement, the superior court transferred the appeal to this Court under RCW 34.05.518. (CP 34-38).

On appeal, Stevens argued that the Program did not have lawful authority to discipline him because he did not have a valid MAP certificate. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

(App. 2). The legislature, the Court ruled, properly delegated to DOH the authority to replace Stevens's valid HCA certificate with a valid MAP certificate on July 1, 2013. (App. 8-9). The court also ruled that Stevens "provides no authority to support the proposition that payment of certification fees online with a credit card somehow invalidates the certification." (App. 9).

Stevens petitions this Court for review.

#### VI. Argument

A. The Court of Appeals erred in upholding Stevens's indefinite suspension because DOH did not issue him a valid medical assistant certificate.

In 2013, the DOH issued medical assistant certifications to over 20,000 HCAs without their consent. At this time, over 20,000 medical professionals, like Stevens, became subject to discipline for these involuntarily issued certifications. In upholding Stevens's indefinite suspension, the Court of Appeals did not properly adhere to RCW 18.360.080. And because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4, this Court should accept review.

The Administrative Procedure Act governs judicial review of agency decisions under the Uniform Disciplinary Act. RCW 18.130.140; DaVita, Inc. v. Department of Health, 137

Wn.App. 174, 180, 151 P.3d 1095 (2007). This Court may reverse an agency action that is not based on substantial evidence or is contrary to law. RCW 34.05.570(3). This Court reviews agency findings for substantial evidence in the record and its legal conclusions de novo. Stevens bears the burden of showing the invalidity of the Program's order. DaVita, 137 Wn.App. 181; Lawrence v. Department of Health, 133 Wn.App. 665, 671, 138 P.3d 124 (2006). For the reasons discussed below, the Program issued Jason Stevens a medical assistant certificate without lawful authority and then proceeded to take disciplinary action against him on the basis of this unlawfully issued certificate.

Stevens does not dispute that DOH issued a MAP certificate in his name on July 1, 2013. But the record

makes clear that the certificate was not valid when the Program charged him with unprofessional conduct.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the Program could take disciplinary action against his MAP certificate.

RCW 18.36.080, which codified the new legislation, provides in relevant part:

The department may not issue new certifications for category A or B health care assistants on or after July 1, 2013. The department shall certify a category A or B health care assistant whose certification was in good standing and who was certified prior to July 1, 2013 as a assistant-phlebotomist when he or she renews his or her certification.

RCW 18.360.080(3). To certify something is to "attest as being true or as meeting certain criteria." Black's

Law Dictionary (2nd Pocket Ed. 2001), 91. By law, therefore, the MA could **not** become valid and effective

until after he renewed his HCA license. At the time the law was passed, Stevens had not renewed his HCA license. (RP 83). In fact, he never renewed his license – it expired in October 2013. (RP 908).

The Court of Appeals refused to consider his argument, because Stevens ignored DOH's enabling regulation, which states:

●n July 1, 2013, all active certified health care assistant credentials will expire and renewed as medical assistant credentials pursuant RCW 18.36.080 and 43.70.280. department will issue a medical assistant credential to a person who had an active health care assistant credential as of June 30, 2013. No fee will be required of the credential holder for this transaction.

Former WAC 246-826-990(2). This regulation, the court ruled, gave D\(\textstyle{\textstyle{0}}\)H the authority to issue Stevens a valid MAP certificate on July 1, 2013.

(App. 8). But the court confuses the issuance of a certificate with the issuance of a "valid" certificate, which could not happen until a certificate holder (like Stevens) when "he or she renews his certification." RCW 18.360.080(3). In other words, former WAC 246-826-990(2) does not undermine Stevens's argument, but rather confirms his argument. At the time of issuance, the MAP certificate was not valid.

The UDA gives DOH jurisdiction to make findings of professional misconduct if a medical professional has an expired or active license. RCW 18.130. To that extent, Stevens agrees with the Court of Appeals that the UDS does not distinguish between expired and active licenses. (App. 7). But at the relevant times in 2013 and 2014, when he was working at the detention

center, Stevens neither had an active license nor an expired license—his license was inactive. And the UDA does distinguish between an inactive license and an active or expired license. RCW 18.130.020

Based on the 2012 legislation, the court of appeals concluded that Steven's HCA license was "automatically superseded" by his MAP certificate. (RP 1800). This finding conflicts with the plain language of the statute. RCW 18.360.080 merely forbade the Department from issuing any new HCA certificates after July 1, 2013; it did not eliminate any HCA certificates currently in effect. In ruling otherwise, the court re-wrote the statute to include self-executing language that the legislature did not include.

Furthermore, Stevens did not property activate the MAP certificate issued in his name. Under applicable Washington Administrative Code (WAC) regulations, an applicant must pay the initial certification fee in person or via mail. WAC 246-08-560(2). Furthermore, an applicant "shall" make payment via check, draft, order money order. WAC 246-08-560(2). His wife, Wendy Stevens, paid the certification fee online via credit. (RP 180, 182, 233). Therefore, she did not comply either requirement.

The court of appeals dismissed this argument, holding that Stevens did not provide any support for this argument. But the regulation itself provides the proper authority.

WAC 246-08-560 explicitly states: "Fees are due with application for initial licensing and

renewals. The department will not proceed on applications until required fees are paid." And then the regulation goes on to make clear that the fees must be paid in person or via mail and only via check, draft, or money order.

Even if Stevens had paid at the correct place or using the correct method, his certificate became ineffective the moment he requested a refund. Wendy paid the certification fee under the mistaken belief that payment was a requirement for maintaining her husband's nursing license. (RP 180). But Stevens did not need an MAP certificate because, under state law, a phlebotomist cannot prescribe, administer, or dispense drugs, which were part of his primary duties at his nursing assignment at BOP. (RP 83, 98). Stevens did not instruct his wife to pay

done so until years later. (RP 83-84).

At Stevens's request, Wendy requested a refund of the initial certificate fee. By regulation, the State "shall" refund any fee "paid erroneously." WAC 246-08-560(3). Wendy's request for a refund was clear and unequivocal. Stevens's MAP certificate, she wrote, "was not applied for, and has not ever been used, and does not apply to [Stevens]." (RP 182). At this point, the State should have immediately refunded the fees and invalidated his license for failure to pay.

For these same reasons, Stevens did not properly activate the MAP certificate in 2016. As in 2014, Wendy erroneously paid the certification fee, thinking that Stevens needed this certificate to continue working as a nurse. (RP 93). As in

2014, she paid this fee online via credit card. (RP 93, 233). And once again, she requested a refund. (RP 93). The State should not have activated a certificate in Steven's name license or even processed Wendy's payment. To have properly activated his certificate, Stevens would have had to have properly paid the initial certification fee plus the required late penalty. WAC 246-827-990(2) (setting forth required fees and late penalties for medical assistant certificates).

#### VII. Conclusion

For these reasons, this Court should reverse
the Program's final order and remand to the
Program with an order directing the Secretary of
Health to dismiss the statement of charges filed
against Stevens.

## I certify that this Brief contains 1,994 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17(b).