FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/29/2024 11:35 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1031751

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON STEVENS,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE HEALTH MEDICAL ASSISTANT PROGRAM,

Respondents

STATE'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SIERRA MCWILLIAMS, Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 48544 1125 Washington St SE PO Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98504-0109 360-586-5107

360-586-5107 OID No. 91030

I. INTRODUCTION

The state of Washington, Department of Health (Department) has a duty to protect the public from health care providers who commit unprofessional conduct. Upon a finding of misconduct, the Department must impose sanctions on the license under the health professions Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA).

The Department acted within its authority when it issued a disciplinary order suspending Petitioner Jason Stevens' medical assistant credential based on misconduct involving diversion of controlled substances from Petitioner's workplace and misuse of controlled substances. Throughout this case, Petitioner has continuously argued that the Department is without authority to take action against his credential based on erroneous legal arguments involving the re-issuance of his health care assistant credential as a medical assistant credential, the mechanism by which his renewal fees were paid, and his request for a refund of the renewal fees. Petitioner's arguments have failed at each level of review. The Department has clear regulatory authority to take action against health care credentials, including Petitioner's medical assistant license.

The petition for discretionary review does not meet any of the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Review by this Court is unwarranted.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the state of Washington, Department of Health act within its authority under RCW 18.130.180 when it took disciplinary action against Petitioner's state-issued medical assistant credential?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Department issued Petitioner a health care assistant credential on October 6, 2011. Petitioner also holds a registered nursing credential from the state of Washington, Board of Nursing (Board). In 2012, the Legislature passed Engrossed Substitute S.B. 6237, directing the Department to stop issuing "health care assistant" credentials. Engrossed Substitute S.B. 6237, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2012) and creating a new "medical assistant" credential. ESSB 6237. In response, the Department conducted rulemaking to issue a medical assistant credential to everyone holding an active health care assistant credential on July 1, 2013. *See* former WAC 246-826-990(2) (effective date July 1, 2013 Wash State Reg. 13-12-045) *repealed* by Wash. State Reg. 22-02-013.

The Petitioner's health care assistant credential, as well as 20,000 other active health care assistant credentials, were superseded by a medical assistant credential on July 1, 2013. Administrative Record (AR) 205-206. Petitioner then renewed his medical assistant credential two times, on May 19, 2014, and on May 28, 2016. AR 233.

The Department and the Board separately issued charges against Petitioner's medical assistant and registered nursing credentials. These charges were levied in response to Petitioner's diversion of controlled substances from his workplace and

3

misuse of controlled substances while working as a health care provider. The Board issued a Final Order suspending Petitioner's nursing credential for violation of RCW 18.130.180(6) and (22)(b), statutes governing the use of controlled substances, until he completed a state substance use disorder monitoring program pursuant to RCW 18.130.175. AR 1509.

Following this decision, the Department moved for summary judgment against Petitioner's medical assistant credential, asserting that he was collaterally estopped from relitigating the Board findings that he violated RCW 18.130.180(6) and (22)(b). The Department tribunal determined that Petitioner's medical assistant credential would be indefinitely suspended until he complied with the Board's order. AR 1735 and 1807.

Petitioner has not challenged any of the factual findings against him but has argued repeatedly that the Department does not have jurisdiction over his medical assistant credential. This argument has failed consistently at the administrative level where

4

the Final Order was issued, and most recently in the Court of Appeals where, in an unpublished opinion, the Court determined that the Department's Final Order was a valid exercise of the Department's authority. Petitioner is now requesting discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court.

IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed as raising an issue of "substantial public interest" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). But the application of an unchallenged administrative rule to unchallenged factual findings in a case that impacts only Petitioner does not implicate the broader public interest.

A. There Is No Basis for Discretionary Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Petitioner fails to offer any persuasive argument or legal authority showing that this case impacts anyone but himself and or otherwise raises an issue of "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case differs from cases like *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), where this Court granted review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) after finding that the decision rendered by the lower court not only affected parties in the immediate proceeding, involving Drug Offender Sentencing Alternatives (DOSA), but also had the potential to substantially affect *every* DOSA proceeding in Pierce County in the future. *Watson*, 155 Wn.2d at 577. The Supreme Court held that this cascading effect was an issue of "substantial public interest." *Id.*

This case raises no similar issue of "substantial public interest." The effects of the disciplinary action against Petitioner and the appellate decision upholding that disciplinary action were limited to Petitioner and his license, making them of individual, rather than public, interest.

Petitioner's "public interest" argument in this case suggests that the former health care assistant licensees and those renewing their licensees online could be better served by retroactively voiding their credentials to practice. Such an action is

6

demonstrably *not* in the public interest. If petitioner's argument was upheld, it would effectively undermine the health professions licensing framework of the state. This would have widespread impact on a significant number of active licenses and place a substantial burden on the state.

Additionally, the Petition fails to raise an issue of substantial public interest simply because each argument the Petitioner asserts regarding the invalidity of his medical assistant credential fails.

1. The Department of Health has authority over active, inactive, and expired health care credentials.

As acknowledged by the Court of Appeals, the UDA does not distinguish between expired and active licenses. *Brown v. Chiropractic Quality Assurance Comm'n*, 110 Wn. App. 778, 784, 42 P.3d 976 (2002). The UDA broadly grants the Department jurisdiction "over any person who has held a license and appears to have engaged in unprofessional conduct." *Id.* at 979; *Stevens v. Health Med. Assistant Program*, No. 58194-9-II, at 7 (Wash. Ct. App. May 14, 2024) (unpublished). Therefore, Petitioner's attempts to invalidate his medical assistant credential are not legally relevant. The Department has authority to take action even against Petitioner's expired, inactive, or superseded credential in the event of misconduct, as he is a person who has held a license and has engaged in unprofessional conduct.

2. The Department of Health issued a valid medical assistant credential, and Petitioner's challenge to the validity of this credential is invalid.

In any event, the medical assistant credential issued to the Petitioner is valid because the Department has authority under the UDA to issue credentials to medical assistants and take disciplinary action against those credentials. RCW 18.130.050. This remains the case for credentials issued via department rule under ESSB 6237. The Petitioner attempts to argue that WAC 246-826-990(2) (now repealed) and RCW 18.360.080 somehow prevented the Department from issuing any new medical assistant credentials. He also argues that by law, his medical assistant credential could not become valid and effective until after he submitted a request to renew the credential pursuant to RCW 18.360.080(3). However, the Petitioner did not raise either of these arguments or take issue with these provisions in earlier briefs. Instead, Petitioner raised this argument for the first time in the Court of Appeals. In its unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals cited RAP 2.5 and held that because this argument was first raised on appeal, it cannot be considered. *Stevens*, (unpublished), at 8.

Even if the Petitioner was permitted to bring these arguments, they would still fail. The Legislature authorized the Department to adopt rules necessary to implement ESSB 6237. The Department decided to issue the new medical assistant license to all individuals holding active health care assistant credentials on July 1, 2013, pursuant to WAC 246-826-990(2). Petitioner did not challenge this rule below and thus waived any challenge to it on appeal. In any event, the rule comports with the agency's role of executing legislative intent through rulemaking. See Hama Hama Co. v. Shorelines Hearings Bd., 85 Wn.2d 441, 536 P.2d 157, 161–62 (1975). The transition to the new medical assistant credential was a valid exercise of the Department's authority. RCW 43.70.280(2) ("the secretary of health may, from time to time, extend or otherwise modify the duration of any licensing . . . period, whether an initial or renewal period, if the secretary determines that it would result in a more economical or efficient operation of state government").

Upholding Petitioner's argument would run contrary to the Legislature's intent in passing ESSB 6237. Additionally, over 20,000 medical assistant credentials could be invalidated, placing an extreme burden on the state's medical infrastructure. Ultimately, this controversy is one individual's personal disagreement with action taken against his medical assistant license for improper and dangerous workplace misconduct.

3. Petitioner held a valid medical assistant credential from July 1, 2013, through May 28, 2018.

Petitioner held a valid medical assistant credential that was recognized by the Department at the time he was disciplined. The manner in which it was renewed and the person who ultimately submitted the renewal request in no way detracts from the fact that the Department issued and recognized his active license. The Court of Appeals agreed that the manner of renewal was valid, as the Petitioner provided no authority to support his position otherwise. *Stevens*, (unpublished) at 9.

Allowing Petitioner to escape discipline would set a dangerous public health precedent. Petitioner did not seek a refund of fees until after administrative charges were filed against him. Allowing a medical assistant to avoid discipline by trying to retroactively invalidate their license would create a gaping loophole in disciplinary rules designed to protect the public.

4. The fee Petitioner submitted was not refundable and therefore did not invalidate Petitioner's license.

Finally, the renewal fee submitted with Petitioner's application is non-refundable. WAC 246-12-340 states that "[f]ees submitted with applications for initial credentialing, examinations, renewal, and other fees associated with licensing and regulation of the profession are non-refundable." The administrative record plainly shows two applications for renewal with payment were sent to the Department on May 19, 2014, and May 28, 2016. AR 233. Consequently, the application was accepted, the license was renewed, and pursuant to the rule, that fee is non-refundable. Petitioner provides no authority to counter these facts.

V. CONCLUSION

The Department of Health took authorized action against an individual with a state-issued medical assistant credential. Because the Department was authorized to take disciplinary action against Petitioner's credential, and because this action affects only the Petitioner, his "substantial public interest" argument necessarily fails.

This document contains 1790 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.